# **RECEIVED** 12-19-2017

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** 

# STATE OF WISCONSIN :: COURT OF APPEALOF: WISCONSIN I

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Appeal No. 2017-AP-2045-CR

VS.

Trial No. 15-CF-2072

DEVON L. LOGGINS,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from a judgment of conviction entered August 29, 2016 in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County,
Honorable Jeffrey A. Conen, Judge, presiding

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JOHN T. WASIELEWSKI Bar ID No. 1009118 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

Wasielewski & Erickson 1429 North Prospect Avenue Suite 211 Milwaukee, WI 53202

(414) 278-7776 jwasielewski@milwpc.com

#

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUE

Whether the trial court erred in denying Mr. Loggins' request for a self-defense jury instruction.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither oral argument nor publication are requested in this appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### **Procedural history**

An amended criminal complaint filed June 28, 2015 charged Defendant-Appellant Devon L. Loggins with six counts: 2 counts of first degree reckless homicide in violation of Wis. Stat. §940.02(2), 3 counts of first degree recklessly endangering safety in violation of Wis. Stat. §941.30(1) and one count of felon in possession of a firearm in violation of Wis. Stat. §941.29. 3: 1-2.

The case was tried to a jury before the Honorable Jeffrey Conen on May 9-13, 2016. The jury returned verdicts of guilty on all counts.

A judgment dated July 6, 2016 imposed consecutive sentences aggregating 83 years imprisonment (56 years initial confinement and 27 years extended supervision). 96: 1-3.

A corrected judgment dated October 10, 2016 imposed concurrent and consecutive sentences aggregating 81 years imprisonment (55 years initial confinement and 26 years extended supervision). 109: 1-3.

On August 10, 2017 Mr. Loggins filed a

postconviction seeking to correct the record regarding polling of the jury. The court held a hearing on September 12, 2017, and heard testimony from a juror. 146: 1-6. The court entered an order dated September 13, 2017 denying relief from the convictions and sentences. 121: 1-2.

Mr. Loggins now appeals.

#### The offense

Events leading to fight and shooting

This case arose from a complex set of family relationships. Larry Jones, Jr. is the father of Damario Jones, the victim in count 1 (first degree reckless homicide). 139: 101-102, 112. Mr. Jones, Jr. has two surviving children, Larry Jones, III and Jasmine Jones, who both testified. 139: 102, 112. Larry Jones, Jr. was in a relationship for 9 or 10 years with Nessie Loggins, the mother of Defendant-Appellant Devon Loggins and Ladonna Loggins. 139: 102-103, 112-113. Ladonna Loggins is the girlfriend Damario Jones and has a child with him. 139: 103. Mario Granville is Devon Loggins' paternal half-brother (sometimes referred to as a stepbrother). 139: 103, 114; 142: 141.

On April 30, 2015, the day before the shooting, an incident occurred involving Larry Jones, Jr., Defendant

Devon Loggins and Mr. Loggins' half-brother Mario Granville. 139: 103-104; 142: 142-143. Mr. Granville and Mr. Loggins went to the home of Mr. Jones, Jr. and Mr. Loggins confronted Mr. Jones, Jr. about mistreatment of Mr. Loggins' mother Nessie Loggins (who is also Mr. Jones, Jr.'s girlfriend). 139: 104; 142: 142-143. During the course of this confrontation, Mr. Loggins punched Mr. Jones, Jr. once, causing a black eye. 139: 104; 142: 142-143. Mr. Loggins and Mr. Granville then left Mr. Jones, Jr's home. 139: 104-105; 142: 143.

News of this confrontation spread quickly among family members. Jasmine Jones, her uncle Montrell Burdine (victim in count 2, first degree reckless homicide) and some friends were at the Ace High bar near 30<sup>th</sup> Street and Lisbon. 139: 115. T.L. (victim in count 3, recklessly endangering safety) joined them at Ace High. 141: 88-89. Mr. Burdine received a telephone call from Damario Jones. 139: 115-116; 141: 89. From this call they learned that Jasmine's father, Larry Jones, Jr., "had got jumped on." 139: 116-117; 141: 89. Ms. Jones, Mr. Burdine and their friends then drove, using three cars, to the home of Larry Jones, Jr. 139: 116-118. T.L. also went to Larry Jones, Jr.'s home. 141: 90.

Upon arrival, Larry Jones, Jr. told what happened in his encounter with Devon Loggins. 139: 118. Ms. Jones telephoned her brother, Damario, and learned he was going to the home Damario shared with Ladonna Loggins and Devon Loggins at 3729 North 37<sup>th</sup> Street. 139: 118; 141: 6-7. Damario Jones had also telephoned Ladonna Loggins asking what had happened; Ms. Loggins told Damario Jones she would find out, and urged Mr. Jones to stay away. 141: 8-9.

Jasmine Jones drove with her friend to Devon Loggins' house. 139: 118.

D.N. (victim in court 5, recklessly endangering safety) received a telephone call from Damario Jones (a/k/a "Whoa") asking D.N. to meet him at 37<sup>th</sup> and Nash. 141: 35. During the call, Mr. Jones was "hysterical, crying, [and] yelling." 141: 35. D.N. and four of his friends drove in his van to 37<sup>th</sup> and Nash. 141: 36.

# The fight

When Jasmine Jones arrived at Devon Jones' home, she saw Ladonna Loggins in her window, and Damario Jones and at least five companions were on the sidewalk in front of the house; these companions included victims D.B. (victim in count 4, recklessly endangering safety),

Montrell Burdine and D.N. (victim in count 5, recklessly endangering safety). 139: 119-120.

Many people were inside the house, including Ladonna Loggins, LaTonya Loggins, Laquisha Loggins, Defendant Devon Loggins and Mario Granville. 141: 8. At some point, someone banged on the door. 141: 9; 142: 103. Ladonna Loggins testified it was Damario Jones. 141: 9. However, this appears to be an assumption, for Ladonna later stated when she and Devon Loggins went downstairs to open the door, no one was there. 141: 20. Laquisha Loggins also testified when Ladonna opened the door, no one was there. 142: 103. Devon Loggins testified that he went downstairs after hearing a loud bang at the back door, but when he opened the door, no one was there. 142: 144. Laquisha Loggins testified that Damario Jones called Ladonna Loggins and said he wanted Devon Loggins to come out and fight. 142: 103-104. Yelling was exchanged between people on the upstairs front porch of the house and Damario Jones and other people down in front of the house. 141: 37, 46, 52, 66-67.

Devon Loggins, accompanied by others, went out the back door and around to the front yard where Damario Jones and his friends were. 139: 120-121; 140: 31; 141: 11; 142: 106-107. Damario Jones and Devon Loggins started fighting in the front yard. 142: 108. Devon Loggins testified that the fighting started when Damario Jones swung at him and stated: "Nigga, you hit my daddy." 142: 147, 148.

Initially, just Damario Jones and Devon Loggins fought. 141: 52, 68-69, 81, 99; 142: 87, 124. Ladonna Loggins and Laquisha Loggins tried to separate the fighters. 139: 33; 141: 22. At some point, the fight moved from the front yard towards the street. 139: 33; 142: 125. Devon Loggins was getting the best of Damario Jones. 142: 108-109. Devon Loggins testified that he ducked Damario Jones' initial swing, he swung three times at Damario Jones, causing him to fall, at which point all the people who were behind Damario Jones started swinging at Devon Loggins. 142: 150.

Other witnesses confirmed that numerous people jumped on Devon Loggins. Ladonna Loggins estimated that 30 people were on her brother during the melee. 141: 23. D.B. noted that while the fight was initially between Damario Jones and Devon Loggins, at some point "everybody started fighting." 141: 54. Sammy Malone described how the fight between two men escalated as

more people came from the house and more of Damario Jones' partisans entered "a big brawl." 141: 69. Ravon Johnson, who had come to the scene with Damario Jones, observed that the fight "looked like it was more the crowd we came with than it was the crowd with Devon." 141: 97, 101. Laquisha Loggins stated that once Devon Loggins started "getting the best" of Damario Jones, "that's when all the guys jumped on Devon." 142: 108-109.

#### The gun and the shooting

Various accounts explain how Devon Loggins came to possess a gun. Ladonna Loggins testified that Mr. Loggins did not have a gun when he left the house, as she does not allow guns in her house. 141: 22. Latonya Loggins also testified that Devon Loggins did not have a gun when in the house. 142: 126.

Several witnesses testified that the gun was obtained from a car, although only one witness testified to this from personal observation. T.L. testified that he saw two persons go to a car, but did not see anyone get a gun. 141: 92. T.L. "guesses" that Montrell Burdine saw someone go in a car and get a gun. 141: 83. Sammy Malone testified he "heard out of nowhere" that someone was going to get a gun, but did not actually see anyone get

a gun. 141: 69-70. The only witness who testified from direct observation on this point was Larry Jones III, who testified he saw Devon Loggins go to a car and get a gun. 142: 95-96. On cross-examination, Mr. Jones, III was impeached. He admitted that he had suffered a head injury and has memory problems. 142: 94-95. Mr. Jones, III testified he did not recall telling police a different account that Mario Granville had fired shots and then either gave the gun to Devon Loggins or Devon Loggins grabbed the gun from Mr. Granville. 142: 97.

Devon Loggins and several other witnesses testified that Mr. Loggins obtained the gun after it was dropped to the pavement by another person during the fight. Latonya Loggins testified that after the fight moved from the front yard to the street, she heard and saw a gun hit the pavement; it fell from a dude in a gray hoodie that she did not know. 142: 126. Laquisha Loggins heard an object hit the ground, but did not see Mr. Loggins pick up a gun. 142: 109-110, 114. During the melee, Ladonna Loggins heard something metal hit the ground, but did not see it. 141: 24. Mr. Loggins testified that after being punched by two persons, a third person in a gray hoodie swung at him; Mr. Loggins ducked this punch, saw a gun drop to the ground

from underneath the hoodie, and grabbed the gun. 142: 140. Mr. Loggins then fired shots. 139: 124; 141: 13-14, 55, 91, 102. Devon Loggins testified that he was scared, and that his intent when shooting to get the people off on him. 142: 141. The fight was not wrestling; they were "beating the crap out of me." 142: 149. Mr. Loggins suffered bruises to his ribs and face, and when he later removed his pony tail, eleven of his dreads fell to the floor. 142: 156-157.

### Mario Granville's role

Testimony was inconsistent regarding whether Mario Granville also had a gun and fired shots during the incident. Jasmine Jones testified that when the fight started, she saw Mr. Granville on the scene, but saw only Devon Loggins with a gun. 139: 129-130. However, after shots were fired and she fled and drove around the block, Jasmine Jones returned to the scene and saw Mario Granville ("Rio") shooting, and could see the recoil in his arm. 140: 35-37. Mario Granville was the person she saw shoot her brother Damario while Damario was on the ground. 140: 41. Kenya Moseby also saw Mr. Granville on the scene, but never saw him with a gun. 140: 15. Ravon Johnson saw Mario Granville raise his arm and

shoot at Montrell Burdine as he fled. 141: 102, 105-106.

The investigation and aftermath

Police investigated 3 scenes: 37<sup>th</sup> and Nash, 38<sup>th</sup> and Nash, and 35<sup>th</sup> and Vienna. 140: 54. At 38<sup>th</sup> and Nash police found and rendered aid to victim Montrell Burdine, who was in great pain and unable to answer questions. 139: 97-99; 140: 89-90. Mr. Burdine died due to gunshot wounds. 142: 22-25. At 37<sup>th</sup> and Nash, police found an unconscious unidentified black male, who was apparently Damario Jones, and conducted CPR without effect. 140: 43-44, 58-59. Damario Jones died from 3 gunshot wounds. 142: 8-11. Also near 37<sup>th</sup> and Nash, police found D.B. on a curb with a gunshot wound to the leg. 140: 47. Police found T.L. limping near 35<sup>th</sup> and Vienna with a gunshot wound to the thigh. 140: 50-51. Victim D.N. drove himself from the scene. 141: 42.

In the middle of the street in front of 3627A North 37<sup>th</sup> Street, police found 15 9mm casings. 140: 55, 57, 64-65. Shotspotter audio evidence indicated that 15 shots were fired at 3628 North 37<sup>th</sup> street in an 8-second span; 40 seconds later, a single shot was fired at 3635 North 37<sup>th</sup> Street. 142: 39-43, 48. A tool-mark examiner testified that the 15 9mm casings recovered were all fired from the same

gun. 142: 59. However, two bullets submitted for testing could not have been fired from the same gun. 142: 60-61. Police did not find or recover any gun at the scene or during the investigation. 140: 78.

#### **Self-defense instruction**

At the conclusion of the evidence, the court held a conference in chambers off the record. Apx. 101; 142: 165. In recounting this conference, the court stated:

It's my understanding that the charges still remain as first-degree reckless homicide, two counts, and three counts of first-degree recklessly endangering safety. There is — we have to have some determination of —I don't see how we go away from this, that there is a self-defense argument. There is no legal self-defense argument to reckless conduct. It's only to intentional conduct. So that all needs to be researched.

Apx. 102-103; 142: 166-167 (emphasis added). The court adjourned for the day, scheduling a conference for the following morning to address jury instructions. Apx. 103; 142: 167.

The next day, Mr. Loggins' counsel filed a Westlaw printout of the unpublished decision in *State v. Green*, 15-AP-1126-CR. 27: 1-9. The slip opinion in *State v. Green* is in the appendix to this brief. Apx. 113-132. Counsel

cited the *Green* opinion, which at that time was only 2 weeks old, to show that self-defense is allowed in reckless homicide cases. Apx. 106; 143: 4. Counsel asserted that the evidence was sufficient for a self-defense instruction on the charges of first degree reckless homicide and first degree recklessly endangering safety, and also on the lesser-included offenses (requested by the prosecutor) of second degree reckless homicide and second degree recklessly endangering safety. Apx. 106: 143: 4.

The prosecutor argued that Mr. Loggins had no statutory right to a self-defense instruction, and cited Wis. Stat. §939.48(3). Apx. 106-107; 143: 4-5. Under this provision, the prosecutor argued:

The privilege of self-defense extends not only to the intentional infliction of harm upon a real or apparent wrongdoer, but also to the unintended infliction of harm upon a third person, except that if the unintended infliction of harm amongst [sic] the crime of first-degree or second-degree reckless homicide, . . . the actor is liable for whichever one of those crimes is committed. In other words, you do not have a right of self-defense in a reckless crime to a third person.

Apx. 106-107; 143: 4-5.

From this legal perspective, the prosecutor asserted that the homicide victims are third persons falling outside

# the scope of self-defense:

And viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant, which would be his testimony, at the moment he starts shooting, he's just shooting indiscriminately at anybody. And his testimony again viewing it in the light most favorable to him is that there is some guy with a gray hoodie. Doesn't identify him as Damario Jones or Montrell Burdine. He doesn't even know the person. The evidence is he knows them. He just starts shooting indiscriminately. The, on the homicide, would fall in the class of my view a third person. And statutorily, you have no self-defense statutory right with respect to those two homicides.

# Apx. 107; 143: 5.

Regarding the recklessly endangering safety charges, the prosecutor stated the statute (Wis. Stat. §939.48(3)) does not apply, but that Mr. Loggins nonetheless should not receive a self-defense instruction. Apx. 107-108; 143: 5-6. He asserted that under the facts viewed most favorably to Mr. Loggins, Mr. Loggins "is essentially saying, I am afraid of an unknown person wearing a gray hoodie who took a swing at me, so, therefore, I just started firing at anybody." Apx. 108; 143: 6.

The court agreed with the prosecutor "regarding the

homicide charges, that self-defense is not available pursuant to statute." Apx. 108; 143: 6. The court further found that "there is no real fear of great bodily harm or death" arising from the melee:

[T]he defendant was concerned about somebody in a gray hoodie, but it's a nondescript person, and 15 shots were fired. So if you take the evidence in the light most favorable to the defense, and that is his own testimony, there is no self-defense here. Therefore, the Court will not give self-defense.

Apx. 108-109; 143: 6-7.

#### ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Mr. Loggins' request for a self-defense jury instruction

A court's decision to submit a defense jury instruction is based on a review of the evidence; whether the evidence is sufficient to warrant giving a defense jury instruction is a question of law which is reviewed de novo. *State v. Head*, 2002 WI 99, ¶44, 255 Wis.2d 194, 648 N.W.2d 413. Failure to give a defense instruction which is supported by the evidence is error. *Head*, ¶44.

In Wisconsin, the scope of the defense of selfdefense is defined by statute:

(1) A person is privileged to threaten or intentionally use force against another for the purpose of preventing or terminating what the person reasonably believes to be an unlawful interference with his or her person by such other person. The actor may intentionally use only such force or threat thereof as the actor reasonably believes is necessary to prevent or terminate the interference. The actor may not intentionally use force which is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily harm unless the actor reasonably believes that such force is necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to himself or herself.

\* \* \* \* \*

(3) The privilege of self-defense extends not only

to the intentional infliction of harm upon a real or apparent wrongdoer, but also to the unintended infliction of harm upon a 3rd person, except that if the unintended infliction of harm amounts to the crime of first-degree or 2nd-degree reckless homicide, homicide by negligent handling of dangerous weapon, explosives or fire, first-degree or 2nd-degree reckless injury or injury by negligent handling of dangerous weapon, explosives or fire, the actor is liable for whichever one of those crimes is committed.

#### Wis. Stat. §939.48(1) and (3).

A judge receiving a request for a self-defense jury instruction must consider the evidence in the most favorable light it will reasonably admit from the standpoint of the defendant. *State v. Stietz*, 2017 WI 58, ¶13, 369 Wis.2d 222, 880 N.W.2d 182. *Head*, ¶113. The defendant must only produce "some evidence" in support of self-defense; this sets a "low bar" that the accused must meet. *Stietz*, ¶16. "Evidence satisfies the 'some evidence' quantum of evidence even if it is 'weak, insufficient, inconsistent, or of doubtful credibility' or 'slight." *Stietz*, ¶17 (footnote omitted). Essential to a proper assessment of the evidence in support of a defendant's request for a self-defense jury instruction is that the court not weigh the evidence:

Crucial to applying the "some evidence" standard is that a court is not to weigh the evidence. State v. Mendoza, 80 Wis. 2d 122, 152, 258 N.W.2d 260 (1977). A court does not "look to the totality of the evidence," as that "would require the court to weigh the evidence accepting one version of facts, rejecting another—and thus invade the province of the jury." Mendoza, 80 Wis. 2d at 153; Ross v. State, 61 Wis. 2d 160, 172-73, 211 N.W.2d 827 (1973) ("This test does not call for a weighing of the evidence by the trial judge."). Rather, "the question of reasonableness of a person's actions and beliefs, when a claim of self-defense is asserted, is a question peculiarly within the province of the jury." Maichle v. Jonovic, 69 Wis. 2d 622, 630, 230 N.W.2d 789 (1975) (citing Higgins v. Minagham, 76 Wis. 298, 45 N.W. 127 (1890)).

# Stietz, ¶18 (footnotes omitted).

The evidence shows that Devon Loggins was engaged in a physical fight with Damario Jones in the front yard of a house, which later moved into the street. While the fight started between just these two persons, each of them had persons in support present. When Mr. Loggins started to prevail in the fight, Mr. Jones supporters jumped in and attacked Mr. Loggins. After this occurred, Mr. Loggins fired shots.

Mr. Loggins testified to the events prompting him

#### to shoot:

[T]hey was still jumping on me, right. Somehow we end up like right outside the gate. We on the sidewalk. And some tall dude, he get to yelling, "hold on, wait, stop, stop, 'yall stop." Everybody stop swinging on me. So I stopped swinging, too, cause I am tired. I was just fighting all these people for like at least four minutes straight. So I am tired. I'm like out of breath. Next thing you know, he punched me. Boom! When he punched me, some other dude over here, he punched me. Boom! It was another dud directly in front of me. Like I ain't see they punches coming. But the dude that was directly in front of me, he had on a gray sweater. He swung on me. I seen him swing so I ducked. When he swing, that's, I noticed the gun fell from under his hoodie. Once the gun fell from under his hoodie, I grabbed it. As soon as it hit the ground, I grabbed it. That's when somebody got to yelling, "He got a gun! He got a gun! He got a gun!" After I'm coming up off the ground, somebody kicked me. I think they was trying to kick me like in my arm because this the hand that I had the gun in. But they missed. They hit me right here. When they kicked me, I kind of like turned over. I just started pulling the trigger.

142: 150-151. Other witnesses confirmed that numerous persons entered the fight and attacked Mr. Loggins; one witness put the number of persons jumping on Mr. Loggins at 30.

In seeking to defeat Mr. Loggins' request for a self-

defense jury instruction, the prosecutor mischaracterized the evidence in several respects.

First, the prosecutor sought to portray the unidentified man in the gray hoodie as the sole threat to Mr. Loggins: "It is essentially saying, I am afraid of an unknown person wearing a gray hoodie who took a swing at me, so, therefore, I just started firing at anybody." Apx. 108. 143: 6. The evidence, not just from Mr. Loggins, shows that he was under assault from numerous persons.

Second, the prosecutor asserted that as the man in the gray hoodie was the object of Mr. Loggins' attention and concern when he shot, that everyone else, including Damario Jones, "would fall in the class of my view a third person." Apx. 107; 143; 5. The prosecutor maintained that everybody except the man in the hoodie was a third party. This conclusion, under Wis. Stat. §939.48(3), would preclude self-defense as to the reckless homicide counts (counts 1 and 2).

Mr. Loggins did not, in his testimony, admit to firing at any particular person; rather he fired with the intention "to just get these people up off of me, to get them away from me." 142: 141. However, the prosecutor's cross-examination contradicts the notion that the shots Mr.

Loggins fired were entirely random and undirected, for the prosecutor recounted who was struck and asked: "You know that all of those people are friends of Damario; correct?" 142: 155. Mr. Loggins agreed. 142: 155. In the question of whether he should have a self-defense jury instruction, Mr. Loggins was entitled to have to court view the evidence in a light most favorable to him and his defense. A reasonable inference from this is that Mr. Loggins shot at Damario Jones and his partisans because those were the persons against whom Mr. Loggins was defending himself. He was not afforded the benefit of this reasonable inference by the prosecutor or the court. The prosecutor argued that the only person causing Mr. Loggins to fear for his safety is the man in the gray hoodie, and that everyone else present, including Damario Jones, is just a "third person," is not a reasonable argument. After engaging in a one-on-one fight with Damario Jones, Mr. Loggins was physically attacked by numerous other person. These were not merely third persons. In fact, the prosecutor acknowledged as much in his closing argument to the jury:

We know that Damario Jones went over to his house, because he was angry with Mr.

Loggins and his brother had punched his dad. We know that Mr. Loggins went out. We know we could probably put people in two camps. Mr. Jones' camp and Mr. Loggins' camp. *This is not just two people on the street. There was a fight*.

# 143: 32 (emphasis added).

Third, the prosecutor asserted that even though the statute (Wis. Stat. §939.48(3)) does not apply to the recklessly endangering safety counts, Mr. Loggins should still not get a self-defense instruction, arguing: "This is not him defending himself. This is him just firing a gun recklessly to see where it, what happens." Apx. 108: 143: 6. While this might be a fair argument based on the prosecutor's view of the evidence, it is hardly a view of the evidence in a light most favorable to Mr. Loggins and his claim of self-defense.

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