RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-06-2018

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP2045-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DEVON L. LOGGINS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. CONEN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 261-8118 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) burgundysl@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

Loggins was not entitled to a self-defense instruction under the statute or under the evidence presented at trial.

A. Relevant law regarding standards for giving requested instructions and the self-defense privilege

A circuit court has broad discretion in deciding whether to give a requested jury instruction. *State v. Coleman*, 206 Wis. 2d 199, 212, 556 N.W.2d 701 (1996). But the circuit court must exercise its discretion "to fully and fairly inform the jury of the rules of law applicable to the case and to assist the jury in making a reasonable analysis of the evidence." *State v. Vick*, 104 Wis. 2d 678, 690, 312 N.W.2d 489 (1981) (quoting *State v. Dix*, 86 Wis. 2d 474, 486, 273 N.W.2d 250 (1979)).

For a defendant to be entitled to a self-defense instruction, he must produce "some evidence" in support of the privilege. *Head*, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶ 112. To apply that "some evidence" standard, the circuit court must determine whether a reasonable construction of the evidence will support the defendant's theory "viewed in the most favorable light it will 'reasonably admit from the standpoint of the accused." *Id.* ¶ 113 (quoting *State v. Mendoza*, 80 Wis. 2d 122, 153, 258 N.W.2d 260 (1977)).

Wisconsin Stat. § 939.48(1) provides that the privilege of self-defense permits a person "to threaten or intentionally use force against another for the purpose of preventing or terminating what the person reasonably believes to be an unlawful interference with his or her person by such other person." But any such force or threat must be tailored to the situation and limited to what the actor reasonably believes is

necessary to end the threat: "The actor may intentionally use only such force or threat thereof as the actor reasonably believes is necessary to prevent or terminate the interference." *Id.* ¶ 83; *see also* Wis. JI—Criminal 801 (2014). But the actor cannot "intentionally use force which is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily harm unless the actor reasonably believes that such force is necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to himself or herself." Wis. Stat. § 939.48(1).

As the supreme court has observed, the statute distinguishes between a defendant's ability to *use* and his ability to *threaten* deadly force. *State v. Watkins*, 2002 WI 104, ¶ 55, 255 Wis. 2d 265, 647 N.W.2d 244. Specifically, the clear language of Wis. Stat. § 939.48 permits a person to *use* deadly force only when the person reasonably believes that the use of deadly force is necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm. *Watkins*, 255 Wis. 2d 265, ¶ 55. In contrast, "the person may *threaten* to use deadly force if the person reasonably believes that the threat is necessary to prevent or terminate an unlawful interference." *Id*.

Taking all of that together, here, Loggins had the burden to produce "some evidence" that he "reasonably believed that another person was unlawfully interfering with his person and that he used or threatened to use such force as he reasonably believed necessary to prevent or terminate the interference." *State v. Stietz*, 2017 WI 58, ¶ 19, 375 Wis. 2d 572, 895 N.W.2d 796 (citing *Mendoza*, 80 Wis. 2d at 153). If Loggins satisfied that burden, the court should have instructed the jury as to self-defense and left the question whether to believe Loggins's version of events for the jury. *See id.* (quoting *Mendoza*, 80 Wis. 2d at 153).

B. Loggins failed to meet his burden of demonstrating some evidence warranting a self-defense instruction.

In Loggins's view, the circuit court should have given the instruction because there was evidence that his firing the gun indiscriminately was self-defense based on his claim that multiple people were physically fighting him. (Loggins's Br. 17.)

His claim lacks merit for two reasons. First, the statute governing the privilege of self-defense expressly provides that the privilege does not extend to unintended infliction of harm upon a third person when that infliction of harm constitutes the crime of first- or second-degree reckless homicide:

(3) The privilege of self-defense extends not only to the intentional infliction of harm upon a real or apparent wrongdoer, but also to the unintended infliction of harm upon a 3rd person, except that if the unintended infliction of harm amounts to the crime of first-degree or 2nd-degree reckless homicide . . . the actor is liable for whichever one of those crimes is committed.

Wis. Stat. § 939.48(3).

Two of the counts for which Loggins was charged and convicted were first-degree reckless homicide—one each for Damario and Burdine. Notably, Loggins presented no evidence that he believed that either of those victims—i.e., Damario or Burdine—were "real or apparent wrongdoer[s]," or that he intended to inflict harm on either of them individually. Rather, his testimony was that he was being physically attacked by people who had come to support Damario and he just started pulling the trigger and shooting indiscriminately into the crowd. The only person in the group attacking him that he distinguished was the unknown

man in the gray hoodie; he was not Damario or Burdine. Hence, Damario and Burdine were third persons who were the unintended recipients of harm from Loggins. Accordingly, under the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 939.48(3), the privilege of self-defense was not available to Loggins as to the two reckless homicide charges.

That said, Wis. Stat. § 939.48(3) does not bar extension of the privilege to Loggins's unintentional infliction of harm on T.L., D.N., and D.B. as third parties. That is so because that harm resulted in the first-degree recklessly endangering safety counts, which is not an enumerated crime in subsection (3). Wis. Stat. § 939.48(3); see also State v. Austin, 2013 WI App 96, ¶ 2, 349 Wis. 2d 744, 836 N.W.2d 833 (self-defense raised to charges of recklessly endangering safety). But that leads to the second reason why Loggins's claim lacks merit: viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Loggins, he failed to advance facts supporting a claim of self-defense.

According to Loggins, he confronted Damario and Damario's crowd in the front yard. Damario threw the first punch, and the two started fighting. (R. 142:148.) Loggins claimed that others joined in the fight, until "the tall dude," broke up the fight, but then sucker-punched Loggins, who was at that point tired and out of breath. (R. 142:149–51.) Loggins said that after the "tall dude" punched him, "some other dude over here, he punched me. Boom!" (R. 142:151.) Then "the dude that was directly in front of" Loggins in the gray hoodie swung, Loggins ducked, and Loggins then grabbed a gun that had fallen from the man's hoodie. (R. 142:151.)

Loggins claimed that after he picked up the gun, someone yelled about his having the gun, and someone else tried to kick him in the arm, "[b]ut they missed. They hit me

right here." (R. 142:151.) At that point, Loggins said, "I kind of turned over. I just started pulling the trigger" and released 15 rounds of gunfire at the people in the street. (R. 142:151.)

Here, assuming that Loggins's explanation is true, there is some evidence that Loggins reasonably believed he had to act to terminate an unlawful interference, i.e., the multiple people fighting him. Moreover, Loggins's claim that he was being physically attacked by numerous people when he found the gun is some evidence that he may have reasonably believed that he needed to threaten deadly force to end the attack. *See Watkins*, 255 Wis. 2d 265, ¶ 55.

But unquestionably, the force Loggins used here—shooting a gun 15 times into a street full of people—was intended or likely to cause death or great bodily harm. To be entitled to use that force, Loggins had to have believed that he faced a like threat. See Wis. Stat. § 939.48(1) (providing that deadly force may be used only when the actor "reasonably believes that such force is necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to himself or herself"); Watkins, 255 Wis. 2d 265, ¶ 55.

Here, Loggins failed to present evidence that his using deadly force—shooting a gun 15 times indiscriminately into a crowd—was necessary to prevent or terminate a threat of imminent death or great bodily harm. Nothing in Loggins's version of events evinced a belief that his attackers were threatening him with imminent death or great bodily harm. Loggins did not testify that he saw any weapons on or near his alleged attackers. At the point he claimed to have picked up the gun, there appeared to have been only one attacker, i.e., someone who tried to kick his arm and missed. Loggins did not claim that multiple people continued to attack him after he had the gun. Nor did he say that the man who tried

to kick him, the attacker in the gray hoodie, or anyone else was posing an immediate threat to the then-armed Loggins.

In addition, Loggins failed to claim that he believed that using the force he did was necessary to terminate any presumed deadly threat. Loggins writes that "numerous persons" jumped on him, and that one witness estimated that 30 people were jumping on him. (Loggins's Br. 18.) But Loggins also testified that at the point he had the gun, that the people around him recognized that he had a gun and that his remaining assailant was someone who tried to kick the gun away. (R. 142:151.)

Loggins complains that the prosecutor and the court misunderstood Loggins's testimony to mean that he felt threatened only by the man in the gray hoodie. (Loggins's Br. 19, 21.) But the prosecutor's and the court's point was that the closest Loggins came to identifying a specific "threat" was an unknown man in a gray hoodie, along with someone who kicked at him once he had the gun. Again, however, Loggins did not claim that either of those people posed a deadly threat. And by Loggins's own testimony, once he had the gun, his lone attacker was someone who tried to kick his arm. Firing a gun 15 times indiscriminately into a crowd is not a lawful response to having one's arm kicked.

Loggins argues that in evaluating the testimony in the light most favorable to him, that the court must disregard "his most damaging concession," which was that he was shooting indiscriminately, and it must accept that he was being attacked by numerous people when he had the gun. (Loggins's Br. 22.) He asserts that the prosecutor and court never viewed the evidence in the light most favorable to him, which was that "a number of [Damario's] partisans" physically attacked this Loggins and "[a]t point, outnumbered being beaten, Mr. Loggins produced or

obtained a gun and started shooting at the persons attacking him." (Loggins's Br. 23.)

But viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Loggins does not mean that the court must ignore Loggins's testimony as to what he believed was happening. As noted above, Loggins testified that at the point he had the gun, he began shooting either after the man in the hoodie punched him and someone tried to kick him, or while 15 to 20 people were jumping on him. Contrary to his brief, Loggins never claimed to shoot specifically at his attackers; rather, he testified that his shooting was indiscriminate and that the fact that none of the bullets struck his own family or friends was "just a coincidence." (R. 142:155.)

Nor did Loggins offer any evidence that his shooting was necessary to terminate a threat of death or great bodily harm from Damario, Burdine, T.L., D.N., or D.B. specifically. Rather, by Loggins's and other witnesses' testimony, Loggins's fight with Damario was over by the time Loggins had the gun; Damario, who was by then arguing with Ladonna, was no longer an immediate threat. There was no evidence that Burdine posed a specific threat to Loggins. Moreover, while the circumstances of D.B.'s shooting were less clear, the gunshot that hit T.L. entered his leg from the back, i.e., while he was running away from Loggins (R. 141:84); D.N. likewise testified that he was moving backward away from the crowd when the shooting began (R. 141:40).

In sum, Loggins failed to present some evidence supporting a jury instruction on self-defense. The court did not err in declining to so instruct the jury.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the judgment of conviction. Dated this 6th day of March, 2018.